2007

Ina C. Holman Family Trust : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This matter was appealed from a final judgment of the Fourth Judicial District Court, thus granting jurisdiction to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code § 78-2-2(3)(f). The Utah Supreme Court subsequently transferred jurisdiction of this matter to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code, § 78-2-2(4).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant asserts the following issues on appeal:

1. **First Issue:** Whether the Trial Court Erred in Applying an Improper Evidentiary Standard in Determining Whether the Purported Amendment was Indeed Part of Grantor's Trust.

- a. Determinative law: Appellant alleges that, pursuant to Utah Code, § 75-7-605, the burden rests upon the proponent of an amendment to a trust to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the purported amendment indeed reflects the will of the grantor. The Trial Court applied a less-stringent preponderance of the evidence standard. This is demonstrated by the Court's failure to give proper consideration to provided testimony showing inconsistencies between the proponent's position towards the Amendment and her prior actions.
- b. Failure to follow the proper evidentiary standard is an error that occurs after the making of the trial record.

Therefore, it is plain error and does not need to be preserved on the record.

- c. Appellant maintains that the appellate standard of review on this issue is the “clearly erroneous” standard.¹

2. **Second Issue:** Whether the Trial Court Erred by Receiving Into Evidence Photocopies of Documents of Purported Amendments to the Trust, and Later Receiving the Purported Originals After the Close of Evidence.

- a. Determinative law: Appellant alleges that the decision of the Court below to accept photocopies of crucial documents whose authenticity was disputed violates Rule 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The decision of the Court below to receive into evidence the purported originals of these same documents following the close of evidence violates Rules 802 and 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence in that it was inadmissible hearsay.
- b. Appellant’s counsel properly objected to the admission of these documents on the record² thus preserving the issue for appeal.

¹ See Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 52(a).

c. Appellant asserts that the proper appellate standard of review in this issue is “independent review of questions of law.”³

² See Testimony of David MacBeth, Partial Record of Trial, pages 18 – 19.

³ See *Carrier v. Pro-Tech Restoration*, 944 P.2d 346 (Utah, 1997).

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Constitutional Provisions:

None

Statutory Provisions:

Utah Code, § 75-2-502

Utah Code, § 75-2-503

Utah Code, § 75-7-111

Utah Code, § 75-7-605

Utah Code § 78-2-2

STATEMENT OF CASE

1. Whether the application of a preponderance of the evidence standard as opposed to a clear and convincing evidence standard in determining the validity of a an amendment of a deceased grantor constitutes reversible error.
2. Whether the admission of duplicate documents over the objections of counsel when the genuineness of the originals is in doubt constitutes reversible error.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts were presented in evidentiary hearing in the Court Below; they do not appear to be in dispute. Grantor, Ina Holman, had five children: Marian Spencer—now deceased, Appellees Kathleen Robinson, Jenevieve Olson (nka Holman) , Phyllis Hall and the Appellant, Robert Holman. On July 27, 1990, Grantor executed a Trust Agreement (the Trust).⁴

The original Trust Agreement provided that, upon Grantor's death or incapacity, all four of her living children would serve as co-trustees and

⁴ Marian Spencer died before the trust was created but is survived by her children. The Trust did not specifically state whether Marian Spencer or her issue would receive a distribution. However, the Court Below determined that Marian Spencer should be treated as a pretermitted heir, and that her share should go to her issue. Her surviving issue are Appellees R. Henry Spencer, Cindy Riley, Pam Gondola, Jana Hay, Sue Frampton, Beth Jeppson, John Spencer, Edith Dunn, Andrew Spencer, Heather Spencer, and Allison Mack. Appellant is not disputing this determination.

equal beneficiaries. At the time she executed the Trust, Grantor was living in Orem, Utah. She lived there until January of 2001 when she was hospitalized following a fall. While in the hospital, she underwent gall stone surgery. Following her release from the hospital, she went to live with her oldest daughter, Kathleen, in Midway, Utah.

While living in Kathleen's home, Kathleen prepared a document for Grantor's signature. This document was entitled "Update to the Trust of Ina C. Holman" (the "Amendment")⁵. This Amendment purports to remove Appellant as a beneficiary and also to remove Jenevieve Holman and Appellant as co-trustees of the trust. This document purported to be signed in February of 2001.

In April of 2002, two of Grantor's attending physicians issued certificates declaring her incompetent.

In August of 2002, Appellant and the other three children designated as beneficiaries and trustees in the original trust agreement met and signed a handwritten document.⁶ In that document, the parties agreed to a number of matters of trust business. They agreed that the trust funds would be placed into a commercial bank, and that they would disperse some of the trust funds

⁵ Trial Exhibits 2, 9, 2A, 9A.

⁶ Trial Exhibit 5

amongst themselves. These disbursements were to be considered advance distributions of trust assets. Shortly thereafter, Kathleen Robinson and Jenevieve Holman announced that they were withdrawing from this agreement.

Some time during 2003, Central Bank assumed the duties as the corporate trustee of the subject trust. Following Grantor's death in March of 2005, Central Bank petitioned the District Court for a determination of certain issues, including the validity of the Amendment, and the beneficiary status of the various children and other family members.

At the ensuing evidentiary hearing on November 14, 2005, none of the parties were able to produce the original of the Amendment. One of the witnesses was able to provide the Court with photocopies of the Amendment which the Court received over the Appellant's objections.⁷

Following the close of evidence, Kathleen Robinson and Jenevieve Holman produced what they claimed were two original copies of the Amendment, which the Court received without reopening the hearing.⁸

⁷ Trial Exhibits 2 and 9

⁸ Trial Exhibits 2A and 9A

The judgment of the Court Below provides, in essence, that the Amendment is valid, and that it effectively removes Appellant as both co-trustee and as beneficiary of the Trust.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Utah law requires that any purported alteration or amendment to a testamentary instrument—including a trust—be shown to represent the true intent of the grantor. Such intent must be shown through clear and convincing evidence, and the burden is on the proponent of the alteration or amendment to so demonstrate. The Trial Court erred in that it applied a lower preponderance of the evidence standard. The Trial Court did not expressly state in its ruling which standard it was applying. However, Appellant was able to demonstrate at hearing that the proponent of the amendment, Appellee Kathleen Robinson, in full knowledge of the purported Amendment, ignored its existence and acted inconsistently with its terms—in spite of the fact that it was to her financial advantage to do otherwise. However, the Trial Court failed to even address this evidence in its ruling. This gives rise to the presumption that the Trial Court applied only a preponderance of the evidence standard.

2. Utah Rules of Evidence require a proponent of a document whose authenticity is in doubt to either produce the original of the document or else account for its whereabouts. This “best evidence” rule is intended to prevent fraud or mistake in proof of the contents of a writing. Although Appellant has repeatedly disputed the authenticity of the purported Amendment, the originals of the Amendment were not produced at hearing, and photocopy duplicates were admitted over his objection. Later, after the close of evidence, the Trial Court received and admitted what purport to be the originals of these documents without offering Appellant the opportunity to respond.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Trial Court Applied an Incorrect Standard of Review in Determining Whether the Purported Amendment was Indeed a Part of the Trust.

Testamentary transfers—either through will or through trust—are held to a high standard of review. The rules that apply to the interpretation of and disposition of property by wills also apply to trusts.⁹ Under these sections, any testamentary instrument, either a will or a trust, must meet certain formalities. It must contain, at a minimum, the testator’s (or the grantor’s) signature, and be signed also by at least two competent witnesses.¹⁰

The subsequent section states that a document that does not comply with these formalities may nonetheless be enforceable provided that the document’s proponent can establish by “*clear and convincing* evidence that

⁹ See Utah Code, § 75-7-111.

¹⁰ See Utah Code, § 75-2-502.

the decedent intended the document or writing to constitute [a valid testamentary instrument].”¹¹

Similarly, another statute states that a Grantor may revoke or amend a revocable trust by employing “any. . . method manifesting *clear and convincing evidence* of the [grantor's] intent.”¹² This is an even higher evidentiary standard than that of most states: that a modification to a trust must be established by clear and convincing evidence.¹³

In the current case, Appellee Kathleen Robinson was the proponent of the alleged Amendment. As such, she bore the burden of proof to demonstrate its validity. This burden of proof was not that of the customary preponderance of the evidence, but rather, to the standard of clear and convincing evidence—a significantly higher standard.¹⁴ Unfortunately, the

¹¹ See Utah Code, § 75-2-503 [emphasis added].

¹² See Utah Code, § 75-7-605(3)(b)(ii) [emphasis added].

¹³ Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 63, p. 443 (2001). “Settlor’s power to revoke or modify the trust can be exercised in any way that provides clear and convincing evidence of the settlor’s intention to do so.”

¹⁴ 29 Am Jur 2d Evidence § 157 (2007). “Generally the party with the burden of persuasion must establish the elements of its case by a preponderance of the evidence; that generally occurs when the factfinder is

Trial Court does not state in its Memorandum Decision or elsewhere the standard of proof it employed. An examination of the Decision and the Transcript strongly suggests that it applied the lower preponderance standard.

Appellant has continuously maintained that the alleged Amendment is either a forgery, or, more likely, it was extracted from Grantor either when she lacked capacity to sign it, or under undue influence. It is undisputed that the alleged Amendment was written or otherwise procured by Kathleen Robinson, and that she oversaw its execution.¹⁵ The Amendment did not

satisfied that the fact is more likely true than not true.. . .

“Occasionally constitutional or policy considerations impose a greater burden of persuasion; in such instances a party will be required to prove its case by clear and convincing evidence. [citation] Clear and convincing evidence is defined in a variety of ways; for example, to establish a fact or an element by clear and convincing evidence a party must persuade the jury that the proposition is highly probable, [citation] or must produce in the mind of the factfinder a firm belief or conviction that the allegations in question are true. [citation]”

¹⁵ See Testimony of Kathleen Robinson, Partial Record of Trial page 38.

conform to the formalities set forth in Utah Code, § 75-2-5-502. It was not witnessed by disinterested persons.

Not only was the purported Amendment deficient on its face, but Kathleen Robinson's subsequent behavior regarding it raised more questions about its authenticity. Both during the hearing, and in their closing statements, Appellant's and Phyllis Hall's counsel raised these issues, but the Trial Court failed to take these rather compelling arguments into account in making its ruling.

As pointed out previously, the Amendment ostensibly took effect in February of 2001—approximately fourteen months before Grantor was formally declared incompetent. The testimony presented to the Trial Court about Grantor's competency during early 2001 was contradictory and given by highly interested witnesses.

However, it is plain that the Amendment benefited its proponent, Kathleen Robinson, tremendously. Not only did it effectively increase her distributive share of the Trust assets by removing Appellant as a beneficiary, but it removed two of her siblings (Jenevieve Olsen and Appellant) who otherwise would have served as successor co-trustees along with her.

With this said, Kathleen Robinson's own actions following the signing of the Amendment suggest that she, herself, had doubts about its

validity. As discussed previously, in August of 2002, Robinson along with the other three siblings signed a handwritten agreement¹⁶ that purports to transact trust business. This document refers to Appellant as one of the co-trustees of the Trust and also as one of the beneficiaries—despite the fact that the earlier Amendment purported to remove him from these capacities. Even though Kathleen Robinson was aware of the Amendment, she concealed this fact from her siblings and continued to treat Appellant as an interested party—although she did not state why in her testimony.¹⁷

If the Amendment were genuine, Kathleen Robinson's decision to either conceal its existence or deny its validity to her siblings and thus dilute both her authority and her distributive share make no sense. The more likely explanation is that she, herself, knowing her mother's mental capacity at the time she signed it, doubted its enforceability. Otherwise, her actions in August of 2002 make no sense. In a similar vein, the hearing record indicates that after the four siblings signed the Agreement in August of 2002, Kathleen represented to a number of third parties—including banks and title companies—that Appellant was indeed a co-trustee of the trust.

¹⁶ Trial Exhibit 5.

¹⁷ See Testimony of Kathleen Robinson, Partial Record of Trial page 50.

Although this Court typically does not question the weight and credibility to be given to evidence, it needs to ensure that the trial court applies the proper evidentiary standard. The fact that the Trial Court failed to even mention any of the above inconsistencies in reaching its decision suggests that it failed to even consider them. This infers that the Trial Court applied the lower preponderance of the evidence standard.

II.

The Trial Court Improperly Admitted Prejudicial Evidence in Violation of the “Best Evidence” Rule.

Rule 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

“To prove the content of a writing . . . the original writing . . . is required, except as otherwise provided in these rules or by other rules adopted by the Supreme Court of this State or by Statute.”

The underlying purpose of this so-called “best evidence” rule is the prevention of fraud or mistake in proof of the contents of a writing.¹⁸ In practice, this Rule is occasionally invoked to keep a photocopy of a document out of evidence when there is reason to doubt the authenticity of

¹⁸ See 29A Am Jur 2d Evidence § 1049 (2007)

the original.¹⁹ Rule 1004 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides a number of exceptions to the best evidence rule, but none of these exceptions appears to apply here.

As stated earlier, Kathleen Robinson's testimony was that Grantor executed the Amendment in duplicate. However, at hearing, the witness was only able to produce photocopies of these two documents.²⁰ Because he doubted the authenticity of the originals, Appellant's counsel objected to the admission of these documents:

MR WINTERS: Your Honor, if I might comment on that. If, if it's being submitted for the purpose of establishing at one point in time there were two originals I'd have no objection to that. If it's being submitted for the purposes of helping the court deal with the administration of this estate for interpreting the estate, I would object to that. *I think we need the originals for the court to see what to interpret.* But if it's simply establishing that at one point in time there were two now missing originals I have no objection to it being

¹⁹ See Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 1003.

²⁰ Trial Exhibits 2 and 9. See testimony of David MacBeth, Partial Record of Trial, pages 17 – 18.

admitted for that limited purpose just establishing that at some point there were two. That does not establish that either one is in existence today.

THE JUDGE: Well, I won't take that as a valid objection.

MR. WINTERS: In that case, I'll have to object to both.²¹

The Trial Court then went ahead and admitted the two duplicate documents over counsel's objection. Concerning these documents, the Trial Court later stated:

At the November 14, 2005 evidentiary hearing, the parties were unable to produce originals of the Update to the Trust. Copies of two versions of the Update were received into evidence as Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 9. Subsequent to the hearing Respondents Jenevieve Holman and Kathleen Robinson found the originals of such exhibits, and filed a "Motion to Substitute Original Documents for Photocopies Received Into Evidence as Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 9, submitting the originals to the court along with additional testimony in the form of affidavits.

²¹ Testimony of David MacBeth, Partial Record of Trial, pages 18 – 19

[emphasis added]

The court will accept the originals and they will be marked as Exhibit 2A and Exhibit 9A to correspond with the exhibit numbers of the copied documents submitted at trial. The court declines to receive the additional proffered testimony as contained in the affidavits.²²

In other words, the Court admitted duplicate documents over Appellant's objection, and then later admitted what purported to be the originals after the close of evidence without affording Appellant opportunity to comment on or even examine these documents. Both actions are highly prejudicial to Appellant since he has "a genuine question . . . as to the authenticity of the original."²³ Moreover, it deprives the Appellant to his right to confront witnesses, examine documents, and object to the foundation of out-of-court statements as afforded by traditional hearsay protections.²⁴

In addition, Under Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a), newly proffered evidence is admissible only under subpart (4), which requires that the proffered evidence be newly discovered and such that the proponent could not, with reasonable

²² Memorandum Decision, page 3 [emphasis original].

²³ See Rule 1003, Utah Rules of Evidence.

²⁴ See Rule 802, Utah Rules of Evidence.

diligence, have discovered and produced at the trial.²⁵ In this case, there is no information available as to why the originals were not produced during the hearing. Moreover, Appellant had no opportunity to cross-examine the proponent of these documents to determine why they were not produced at the hearing.

Indeed, the authenticity of the Amendment *is* the entire case. The Trial Court should have taken greater caution to ensure that these documents were properly admitted.

²⁵ Rule 59(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. See also *Barnard v. Sutliff*, 846 P.2d 1229 (Utah 1992).

CONCLUSION