2007

Ina C. Holman Family Trust : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

In response to Robert's Brief of Appellant, Kathy, Jenny, and the Spencer Family (collectively, "the Appellees") assert that Robert failed to marshal evidence as required by rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Instead of presenting in comprehensive and fastidious order every scrap of competent evidence introduced at the hearing which supports the trial court's findings concerning Ina's intent to amend the Trust and the evidence supporting the trial court's decision to admit the Update to Trust, Robert has simply presented those facts that militate against the trial court's findings. Given Robert's failure to marshal evidence as required by rule 24(a)(9), this Court should uphold the trial court's findings of fact concerning Ina's intent to amend her trust and find that the trial court acted within its discretion to admit the documents amending Ina's trust into evidence.

The Appellees further argue that the trial court's finding of fact that Ina intended to amend her trust is supported by the clear weight of the evidence. Robert attempts to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the trial court's finding of intent by arguing that the trial court applied the wrong evidentiary standard. However, given that the proper evidentiary standard was included in the parties' pleadings and that the court never stated that it was applying the wrong evidentiary standard, this Court should assume that the trial court applied the proper evidentiary standard of clear and convincing

evidence. Significantly, the trial court's findings of fact are supported by the clear weight of the evidence as is demonstrated in the trial court's Memorandum Decision, in which the bases for the trial court's finding of intent on the part of Ina to amend her trust are articulated and well supported.

Finally, the trial court acted reasonably and within its broad discretion when it admitted into evidence the duplicate and original Updates to Trust at the time of the hearing and following the close of evidence, respectively. Robert challenges the trial court's admission of the duplicate Updates to Trust as running contrary to rule 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. However, the photocopies of the Updates to Trust qualify as duplicates under rule 1003, and, therefore, are admissible to the same extent as the originals. The determination that the duplicates are admissible is supported by the trial court's findings that no genuine question existed concerning the authenticity of the original Updates to Trust. Furthermore, following the completion of the hearing, the trial court acted reasonably and within its discretion when it admitted into evidence the original Updates to Trust without reopening the hearing for further testimony. By that time, the trial court had already received extensive testimony concerning the Updates to Trust, and, for that reason, additional testimony was not required.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals Should Affirm the Trial Court's Judgment Because Appellant Robert Holman Failed to Marshal Evidence.

In his Brief of Appellant, Robert Holman ("Robert") completely failed to marshal evidence as required by the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. For that reason, the Court

of Appeals should affirm the trial court's judgment and refuse to disturb the trial court's findings of fact.

Rule 24(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure addresses, in part, the content required in an appellant's brief. It requires that "[a] party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding." UTAH R. APP. P. 24(a)(9). The Utah Supreme Court explained that to meet the rule 24(a)(9) requirement, "parties protesting findings of fact must marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below." *United Park City Mines Co. v. Stitching Mayflower Mt. Fonds*, 140 P.3d 1200, 1206 (Utah 2006) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

In *West Valley City v. Hoskins*, this Court explained that marshaling requires the following:

[T]he challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which *supports* the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

51 P.3d 52, 55 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) (emphasis in original) (quoting *West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)). As this Court explained, the duty of an appellant to marshal the evidence is a "critical requirement of appellate advocacy." *West Valley City*, 51 P.3d at 54.

This Court also explained that a failure to marshal evidence as required by rule 24(a)(9) is often fatal to an appellant's case. *See, e.g., Houghton v. Miller*, 118 P.3d 293, 294 (Utah Ct. App. 2005). In *Houghton*, the Court explained, "Where a party fails to so marshal the evidence, we need not consider the challenge to the sufficiency of the findings." *Id.* *See also Macris & Assocs., Inc. v. Images & Attitude, Inc.*, 941 P.2d 636, 642 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) ("We will uphold the trial court's findings of fact if the party challenging the findings fails to appropriately marshal all the evidence."); *Saunders v. Sharp*, 793 P.2d 927, 931 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (Burden of marshaling evidence "is a heavy one.... Accordingly, when an appellant fails to carry its burden of marshaling the evidence, we refuse to consider the merits of challenges to the findings and accept the findings as valid."). The Utah Supreme Court explained that "[i]f an appellant argues that no evidence supports a factual finding, the burden to marshal does not then shift to the appellee; rather, the appellee may prove that the appellant did not meet her marshaling burden by presenting a 'scintilla' of evidence supporting the district court's finding." *Parduhn v. Bennett*, 112 P.3d 495, 503 (Utah 2005) (citing *Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Mfg. Corp.*, 54 P.3d 1177 (Utah 2002)).

The case of *Parduhn v. Bennett* provides an excellent example of the consequences stemming from a failure to marshal. *See* 112 P.3d 495, 503–504 (Utah 2005). In *Parduhn*, two individuals entered into a partnership agreement ("Agreement") for the purpose of owning and operating a gas station. *Id.* at 498. The Agreement included a buy-sell provision that allowed for continuing the partnership in the event a partner died. *Id.* The Utah Supreme Court explained, "The buy-sell agreement

contemplated that each partner would purchase a life insurance policy designating the other as beneficiary. Upon the death of one of the partners, the surviving partner would use the proceeds from the insurance policy to purchase the deceased partner's interest in the partnership from the deceased partner's heirs." *Id.*

In 1997, the partners sold the gas stations comprising their business. *Id.* That same year, one of the partners passed away ("decedent"). *Id.* The decedent's heirs claimed the life insurance proceeds while the surviving partner claimed that he was entitled to the policy proceeds. *Id.* at 499. The trial court ultimately awarded the life insurance proceeds to the decedent's heirs. *Id.* It held that the decedent intended his heirs, and not his surviving partner, to receive the proceeds. *Id.* at 499–500.

The surviving partner challenged the trial court's subsidiary findings of fact related to the trial court's ultimate finding of fact concerning the decedent's intent. *See id.* at 502–03. Among other things, the surviving partner asserted that the trial court erroneously found that the partners sold their partnership and its assets, and that the partners treated the partnership casually. *Id.* at 503.

In addressing the surviving partner's challenge of the trial court's findings of fact related to the decedent's intent, the Utah Supreme Court explained, "To successfully challenge that ultimate finding [of intent], [the surviving partner] should have marshaled all of the remaining evidence supporting it and then demonstrated why that evidence 'is legally insufficient to support it even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below.'" *Id.* at 504 (quoting *Chen v. Stewart*, 100 P.3d 1177, 1195 (Utah 2004)). The Utah Supreme Court then continued by explaining that the surviving partner had not

marshaled the evidence. *Parduhn*, 112 P.3d at 504. The surviving partner simply had provided an addendum to his brief with “most of the documents on which the district court relied in making its finding of intent,” without explaining why the trial court “erred in interpreting the evidence as it did.” *Id.*

The Utah Supreme Court explained that the surviving partner’s attempt fell far short of the marshaling of evidence required by Utah appellate courts. *Id.* It explained:

To appropriately marshal evidence, parties must provide a precisely focused summary of all the evidence supporting the findings they challenge. This summary must correlate all particular items of evidence with the challenged findings and then convince us that the trial court erred in the assessment of that evidence to its findings. Indeed parties challenging factual findings must fully embrace the adversary’s position and play devil’s advocate.

Rather than meeting this high burden, [the surviving partner] simply presents those facts that militate against the district court’s finding of intent—a strategy we have previously found to be insufficient.

Id. at 504 (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added). As a consequence of the surviving partner’s failure to marshal “the plenteous evidence supporting [the] finding” of intent, the Utah Supreme Court rejected the surviving partner’s arguments related to the findings of fact. *Id.*

Similar to the surviving partner in *Parduhn*, Robert has failed to marshal any evidence as required by rule 24(a)(9). Robert has asserted two issues on appeal. The first is a challenge to the sufficiency of the trial court’s factual findings that Ina Holman (“Ina”) intended to amend the Ina C. Holman Family Trust (“Trust”) with the Update to the Trust of Ina C. Holman dated February 5, 2001 (“Update to Trust”). *Appellant’s Brief*, 4. The second is that the trial court erred by receiving into evidence the originals

and duplicates of the Update to Trust because Robert disputes their authenticity.

Appellant's Brief, 5.

In laying out the facts that allegedly support the two issues identified in his appeal, Robert failed to identify the facts upon which the trial court relied to determine that Ina intended to amend her trust and that the Update to Trust was authentic. Instead, Robert simply identified for the appellate court the same arguments and facts previously identified in his pleadings and at the time of the hearing concerning alleged inconsistencies in the actions of Kathleen Robinson (“Kathy”) following Ina’s execution of the Update to Trust.

Robert marshaled none of the evidence identified in the trial court’s Memorandum Decision in support of the trial court’s finding that it was Ina’s intent to amend her trust. For example, Robert makes no mention of the nearly \$124,000.00 he owed to his mother that was discussed in a 1994 letter to his mother, see Exhibit 15 ¶ 15, and in his testimony at the time of the hearing, see Trans. 182:6-16. In its Memorandum Decision, the trial court discussed extensively the offers made by Robert in his 1994 letter to exchange his interest in Ina’s trust for the forgiveness by Ina of his debt. *See* R. 475; Trans. 189:17–190:3. Robert also fails to marshal for this Court a subsequent letter entered into evidence and discussed by the trial court in its Memorandum Decision in which Robert more specifically outlined his request for forgiveness of the debt owed by him to Ina in exchange for his removal from Ina’s trust. *See* R. 474; Exhibit 16; Trans. 195:9-196:14.

Robert also failed to discuss the actual language of Ina’s amendment, also relied upon by the trial court, which expressly states Ina’s reasons for amending the Trust. *See*

R. 474; Exhibits 2, 2A, 9, & 9A, ¶ 3. Specifically, the Update to Trust provides the following:

Since my son, Robert J. Holman, has previously received real estate, loans and money from me equal to or in excess of his share of my estate, his name is to be removed from my previously written trust, and he is to be excluded from sharing in the proceeds of any of my estate after my death.

See Exhibits 2, 2A, 9, & 9A, ¶ 3.

The evidence presented by Robert to this Court in his brief does not describe the testimony of Lyle Gertsch, the public notary who witnessed Ina's execution of the two original Updates to Trust or his testimony that Ina was coherent, not confused, and carried on a good conversation with him at the time of the execution. *See* Trans. 62:7-11, 62:22-65:15. Robert also fails to identify testimony given that in 2001 Ina could carry on a conversation, knew who her children were, and was aware of what property she owned. Trans. 119:6-18, 271:19-272:22. However, as Robert testified, it would have been difficult for Robert to know his mother's capacity at the time she signed the Update to Trust because his relationship with Ina was strained in 2000 and 2001, and he talked very little with her, if at all. Trans. 177:6-9, 15-22.

In his brief, Robert focused extensively on agreements and actions following the Update to Trust in which Kathy and Jenevieve Holman ("Jenny") treated Robert as a co-trustee and/or beneficiary of the Trust. However, Robert provided this Court with none of Kathy's testimony in which she explained that the purpose of her actions following Ina's execution of the Update of Trust was to work with Robert and Phyllis Hall ("Phyllis") as family members and to avoid discord in the family, Trans. 135:6-20, or Robert's

testimony that he and his sisters were really trying to figure out a way to manage things and get along, Trans. 201:24-202:4, 214:1-7.

Given his failure to marshal, and the fact that the above evidence comprises much more than a “scintilla” of evidence in support of the trial court’s decision, this Court should uphold the trial court’s findings of fact concerning Ina’s intent to amend the Trust and concerning the authenticity of the Update to Trust.

II. Trial Court’s Findings of Fact Concerning Ina Holman’s Intent to Modify the Trust Are Supported by Clear and Convincing Evidence.

The trial court’s findings that the Update to Trust implemented Ina’s intent are not against the clear weight of the evidence presented to the trial court at the hearing. In his brief, Robert argues that the trial court applied the wrong evidentiary standard in finding that the Update to Trust reflected Ina’s intent. Specifically, Robert argued that the trial court applied a preponderance of the evidence standard rather than a clear and convincing evidence standard in finding that it was Ina’s intent to amend her trust. In support of this argument, Robert asserts that the trial court must have applied the preponderance of the evidence standard for the following reasons: 1) the trial court did not expressly state the evidentiary standard that it applied, and 2) the trial court did not expressly address in its Memorandum Decision Kathy’s actions following the execution of the Update to Trust.

However, the following demonstrates that in spite of Robert’s attempts to frame this issue as a question of whether the trial court applied the proper evidentiary standard, he is really challenging the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the trial court’s factual findings, and, as such, the trial court’s factual findings should not be overturned unless

they are against the clear weight of the evidence in the record. Furthermore, in the absence of any express statement by the trial court that it applied a specific evidentiary standard, the proper presumption is that the trial court applied the correct evidentiary standard. With regards to Robert's assertion that the trial court's findings are insufficient given that they do not specifically address certain actions taken by Kathy, the trial court met its burden by providing sufficient detail in its Memorandum Decision to make the basis of its decision clear. Significantly, the trial court's Memorandum Decision clearly illustrates that its findings concerning Ina's intent were supported by the weight of the evidence. Each of the above issues is addressed in turn.

A. Robert Holman's Appeal Challenges the Trial Court's Factual Findings and not the Evidentiary Standard Employed by the Court.

This Court should not overturn the trial court's finding that it was Ina's intent to modify her trust to exclude Robert because it is supported by the clear weight of the evidence. *See* UTAH R. CIV. P. 52(a). Robert presents his first issue on appeal to this Court as a failure on the part of the trial court to apply the correct evidentiary standard. *See Appellant's Brief*, 4. Specifically, in describing his first issue, Robert states the following: "Whether the Trial Court Erred in Applying an Improper Evidentiary Standard in Determining Whether the Purported Amendment was Indeed Part of Grantor's Trust." *Appellant's Brief*, 4. Robert then asserts that the trial court "applied a less-stringent preponderance of the evidence standard" because the trial court allegedly failed "to give proper consideration to provided testimony showing inconsistencies between [Kathy's] position towards the Amendment and her prior actions." *Id.*

However, Robert's suggestion that the trial court applied the wrong standard is in reality an attempt to attack the sufficiency of the trial court's factual findings. Robert explained that the burden of proof concerning Ina's intent to modify her trust was not preponderance of the evidence, but clear and convincing evidence. *See id.* at 16. He then states, "Unfortunately, the Trial Court does not state in its Memorandum Decision or elsewhere the standard of proof it employed. An examination of the Decision and the Transcript strongly suggest that it applied the lower preponderance standard." *Id.* at 16–17. In other words, Robert is arguing that while the trial court at no point states that it is applying the wrong evidentiary standard, it must have applied the preponderance of the evidence standard because the evidence does not support the trial court's findings of fact.

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